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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Santee, in Caroline County, is a handsomely situated, remarkably well-preserved formal
plantation of the early nineteenth century. One approaches the house by a road that
winds through woods and opens into an antebellum park. The house sits on a grassy knoll
with a copse of ancient trees before it, through which a vista to a small lake was made.

The plantation house is a two-story, double-pile, central-passage building with a two-
story ell at the rear. Built of brick laid in Flemish bond, the five-bay structure has
tall, attenuated interior end chimneys and is crowned by a low hipped roof. The windows
have large six-over-six sashes and are topped by white-painted stone lintels ornamented
with paterae, The front door is flanked by sidelights and surmounted by a handsome
elliptical fanlight. At one time there was a doorway to the upper level of a two-story,
late-nineteenth-century porch in the center bay of the second floor, but this has been
converted to a window and the porch replaced by a tetrastyle Dorie porch more in keeping
with the style of the house, A modillion cornice encircles the front portion of the
house. '

The four-bay ell may be ecarlier by a few years than the main block which was built around
1820. The ell is frame , with brick nogging which has been exposed by the removal of the
exterior cladding, and it features a molded cornice, a gable roof, and an interior end
chimney with a corbelled cap. '

The most notable architectural feature of Santee's interior is its curved stair, which
has a round banister and two cylindrical balusters to a tread, and is scrolled at the
base. Sawn brackets embellish the open string, and the flush dado with molded cap used
in the passage is carried up the stair, The rear end of the passage is rounded to
conform to the shape of the stair, and consequently the doors there are slightly curved.

The northeast parlor on the first floor is decorated with a striking mantel consisting
of two fluted Doric colonettes supporting entablature blocks with elliptical sunburst
paterae, flanking a frieze embellished with bands of bold moldings. A shelf the width
of the chimney breast tops the whole, and an architrave overmantel panel with double
croffettes completes the composition. A dentil cornice is carried around the room, and
the window and door frames are symmetrically molded with paterae in the corner blocks,
a treatment applied uniformly throughout the house. A similar decorative scheme to
that in the northeast parlor appears in the northwest parlor, The chimney piece is a
little less elaborate, lacking the paterae and some of the molding elements of the
frieze and shelf,

The original kitchen building at Santee stands directly behind the ell. It is a two-story,
four-bay, gable-roofed building with interior end chimneys and is built of brick laid

in three-course American bond. It has a two-room plan with opposed front and rear doors

in the cast room and a single front door in the west. The straight-run stairs rise

against the partition in the west room. The interior has been extensively remodelled,

and the west fireplace rebuilt, but the east room retains a massive fireplace with

a segmental-arched firebox.

East of the house is an early stable, gable-roofed, built of brick laid in five-course
American bond. Several hundred yards further cast survives one of a group of eight orig-
inal slave houses. This is a story-and-a-half brick building with a gable roof. The
houses were originally arranged along a street in four pairs of opposing houses, within

sight of, but at a distance from, the main house, DTU
T (Sce Continuation Sheet #1}
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6. REPRESENTATTON IN EXISTING SURVEYS

(2) Virginia Historic Landmarks Commission Survey
1975 State
Virginia Historic Landmarks Commission
221 Governor Street
Richmond, Virginia code: 51

7. DESCRIPTION - BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The acreage included incorporates the scenic park arcund the house, the scenic
approach through the woods from the public road, the original outbuildings, and
the one surviving slave house to the east of the pond, The steep slope to the
north of tie house is included as the house site was selected for its commanding
view of the Rappahannock Valley.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Santee in Caroline County, associated with the prominent Fitzhugh and Gordon families for

over 250 years, is an outstanding example of a formal plantation of early-nineteenth-

century Tidewater Virginia, The handsome house, its early kitchen, stable, and slave

house, and the verdant park present a remarkable glnnpse of antebellum life along the
Rappahammock River at its most prosperOus. :

The land which includes
1764), who emigrated to
and thence to John Il's
Their son John Battaile
his own demise in 1803,
who created the present

the present Santee was patented by John Battalle I (circa 1660-
America around 1684, It passed to his son John II (1695-1732)
daughter Sarah, who married Henry Fitzhugh (d. 1782) in 1747,
Fitzhugh owned the property from the death of his parents until
when it passed to his brother Battaile Fitzhugh (before 1782-1836),
Santee plantation., For several years, Caroline County tax records

charged him only with the owmership of 1286 acres of land, 1In 1813 the tract was first
listed as the one "where he lives." 1In 1817, he added 166 acres to his holding, followed
by another 300 acres the next year., Finally, in 1820, there was a separate valuation

'of the buildings, recording them as being worth $1700. It seems likely that Fitzhugh
|erected the frame ell before 1817 and lived in it while the main block, finished by 1820,

;was being built.

'Ar Fitzhugh's death the

i

property passed ﬂo his wife Elizabeth Taliaferro. 1In 1838, another

increase .in valuation occurred with the addition of two brick-buildings, probably the

‘kitchen and the stable,

to the estate. Patsy Fitzhugh and her husband Samuel Cordon of

iKermore, in Fredericksburg, inherited Santee from her mother. It was during their tenure,
"in the winter of 1862-1863, that a detachment of Gen. Thomas "Stonewall' Jackson's troops
‘camped in the Santee woods near the present road. Gordon was nervous about the safety

‘of his park and reportedly elicited from the commanding officer a promise that the trees
]would not be cut for firewood.

Descendants of the Fitzhugh-Gordon families owned Santee until well into the twentieth
century. It was vacant from 1931 until 1943, at which time it was sold out of the family.

The prescent owners, Mr.

and Mrs. John G. Castles, bought the house in 1945 and restored it.

DTU/MTP
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USGS 7.5 quadrangle {scale:?:24000)
Rappahexnock Academy, Va. 1969

SANTER, Caroline County, Virginia
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